IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

OMNI FINANCIAL, LLC, a foreign limited liability company Appellant,

vs.

KAL-MOR-USA, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company;

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Apr 09 2021 08:55 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

No.: 82028

Eighth Judicial District Court Case No: A-17-757061-C (Honorable Richard Scotti)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

HOWARD & HOWARD ATTORNEYS PLLC

ROBERT HERNQUIST, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.010616 BRIAN J. PEZZILLO, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 007136 3800 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Ste. 1000 Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 Attorneys for Appellant Omni Financial, LLC

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court and/or the Appellate Court of Nevada has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) and NRCP 54(b). This appeal is taken from the granting of partial summary judgment pursuant to NRCP 56 and certified as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b). The Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment was entered on the 2nd day of October 2018. Notice of Entry of such Order was given and entered on the 3rd day of October 2018 and served electronically via the Court's ECF system. The Court entered an Order certifying the October 2, 2018 Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b) on September 30, 2020. Notice of Entry of the September 30, 2020 Order was also entered and served via the Court's ECF system on September 30, 2020. Initial notice of appeal pertaining to this Order was filed on October 27, 2020.

II.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11, 12). The issue of whether a third-party may collaterally attack the meaning of an agreement it is not a party to in order to assert novation does not appear to have been decided by any appellate court in Nevada. Likewise, the issue of whether novation of contract applies when the contract subject of the alleged

novation has been breached has never been addressed. These issues were raised before the District Court in Respondent Kal-Mor-USA, LLC's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment [JA Vol. III, 000566 – 000590] and the Reply in support thereof [JA Vol. VI, 001281 – 001303], Omni Financial, LLC's Opposition to Motion for Partial Summary Judgment [JA Vol. IV-VI, 000785 - Vol. V, 001280] and the Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law granting the motion for partial summary judgment. [JA Vol.VI, 001307 - 001317]. The issue of novation of contract was further addressed in Appellant Omni Financial, LLC's Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law [JA Vol. VI, 001331 – 001355] and the Reply in Support of the Motion for Reconsideration [JA Vol. VI, 001371 – 001384] and Kal-Mor-USA, LLC's Opposition thereto. [JA Vol. VI, 001356 - 001370] as well as the District Court's denial of the Motion for Reconsideration. [JA Vol. VI, 001387 - 001393].

The application of novation of contract and whether novation may be asserted by a third-party which is expressly excluded as a beneficiary has important consequences for the application of contract law in general and in particular in the application of contracts which are breached and followed by a settlement agreement. If a person/entity which was not a party to either the underlying contract subject of the alleged novation or the subsequent contract can attack the meaning of the pertinent contracts when the parties to the contracts themselves raise no such dispute will severely impact the manner in which contracts, including settlement agreements, are drafted and enforced and will raise the potential for an increase in litigation. Contracts should provide for certainty which will be eroded if third parties are permitted to collaterally attack agreements of others and raise arguments of novation when they are not beneficiaries of the agreements at issue. Whether this is the case should be established by the Supreme Court to establish predictability in Nevada contract law.

III.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether the district court erred in finding that a settlement agreement entered into between Omni Financial, LLC and First 100, LLC settling a prior lawsuit acted as a novation of contract when neither Omni Financial, LLC nor First 100, LLC asserted that a novation had occurred and only a third-party, Kal-Mor-USA, LLC, made such a claim;

B. Whether the District Court erred in allowing a third party to attack the validity and enforceability of a settlement agreement which contained a disclaimer of any third-party beneficiaries;

C. Whether the District Court erred in finding that novation applied when the predecessor agreement had been breached prior to the alleged novation;

3

D. Whether the District Court erred in denying Omni Financial, LLC permission to conduct discovery pursuant to NRCP 56(d) regarding establishment of whether a genuine issue of fact existed to prevent entry of partial summary judgment; and,

E. Whether the District Court relied upon inadmissible evidence under NRCP 56(c) in granting Kal-Mor's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The action concerns ownership of 9 parcels of real property which were subject of an HOA super-priority sale. In 2014, Omni Financial, LLC ("OMNI") agreed to loan up to \$5 million to Defendant First 100, LLC ("First 100") to finance the purchase and enforcement of homeowner association ("HOA") receivables (the "Loan"). [JA Vol. I, 000002, ¶6; Vol. IV, 000788, ¶2; Vol. IV, 000819, ¶4]. Deeds of Trust encumbered various properties as security for the Loan. [JA Vol. I, 000002 – 000004; JA Vol. IV, 000820, ¶7]. First 100 defaulted under the agreement with Omni. [JA Vol. I, 000013 – 000014; JA Vol. IV, 000790 – 000792; 000820, ¶12]. Litigation was initiated between First 100 and Omni to which Kal-Mor-USA, LLC ("Kal-Mor") was also a party. [JA Vol. I, 000014 – 000015; JA Vol. IV, 000792]. The litigation was eventually settled through the execution of settlement agreements between Omni and First 100 (the "First 100 Settlement Agreement") [JA Vol. I, 000

000015, ¶92] and Omni and Kal-Mor (the "Kal-Mor Settlement Agreement"). [JA Vol. IV; JA000795, ¶38 – 000796, ¶39]. Kal-Mor asserted in the Complaint in this action that its interest in the subject properties was superior to those of Omni. [JA Vol. I, 000018 - 000020]. By way of a motion for partial summary judgment, Kal-Mor, in part, argued that the First 100 Settlement Agreement acted as a novation of the Loan agreement between Omni and First 100 and eliminated Omni's interest in the real properties at issue. [JA Vol. III, 000566 – 000590]. Although not a party to the agreement between Omni and First 100, Kal-Mor necessarily contends it is an implied beneficiary of the First 100 Settlement Agreement. The Court granted the motion for partial summary judgment filed by Kal-Mor on the grounds that the settlement agreement between Omni and First 100 operated as a novation of the prior Loan agreement. [JA Vol. VI, 001307 - 001317]. At the time of the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment First 100 had been named as a Defendant by Kal-Mor [JA Vol. I, 000001 – 000024] but had not yet appeared in the action. Subsequently, First 100 did appear and filed an Answer to Kal-Mor's Complaint. [JA Vol. VII, 001593 - 001613].

Omni filed a Motion for Reconsideration with the Court seeking to have the granting of the Partial Summary Judgment reheard. [JA Vol. VI, 001331 - 001355]. After a hearing the Court denied the Motion for Reconsideration. [JA Vol. VI 001387 - 001393]. Omni requested that the Court certify its Order granting the motion for partial summary judgment as final for purposes of appeal pursuant to NRCP 54(b). [JA Vol. VI, 001398 - 001406]. The Court initially denied the motion. [JA Vol. VI, 001418]. Omni subsequently renewed its motion for certification pursuant to NRCP 54(b) [JA Vol. VII, 001708 - 001718] which was not opposed by Kal-Mor. [JA Vol. VII, 001713 - 001725]. The Court entered its Order certifying its Order granting partial summary judgment as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b) on September 30, 2020. [JA Vol. VII, 001726 - 001729].

This Appeal Followed.

V.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Omni is a California entity that extends real estate-backed loans. [JA Vol. IV, 000788, lns. 19 - 21]. In 2014, Omni agreed to loan up to \$5 million to First 100 to finance the purchase and enforcement of homeowner association ("HOA") receivables (the "Loan"). [JA Vol. IV, 000819]. On May 27, 2014, (i) the two entered into a Loan Agreement; (ii) First 100 executed a Promissory Note, Security Agreement, and multiple Deeds of Trust in Omni's favor; and (iii) certain First 100 principals issued Guarantees in Omni's favor. [*Id.*]. Unbeknownst to Omni when it extended the Loan, First 100 and Kal-Mor were *not* independent parties and the principal of Kal-Mor held a position with First 100. [JA Vol. IV, 000819, ¶5]. In addition to recording UCC-1 financing statements, OMNI was provided multiple

deeds of trust by First 100 to secure the money lent. [JA Vol. IV, 000819, $\P6 - 000820$, $\P7$].

In 2013, 2014 and 2015, Kal-Mor purchased several properties from First 100 ("Kal-Mor Properties"), including the Kal-Mor properties at issue here which were subject of the Deeds of Trust recorded by Omni. [JA Vol. I, 000004 – 000013; JA Vol. IV, JA000780, ¶16; 000820, ¶10]. Kal-Mor alleges with regard to each property purchased that:

First 100 did not disclose to Kal-Mor that it had previously pledged any interest in any of the Kal-Mor Properties as collateral for the Omni Loan or that any of the Kal-Mor Properties was subject to any of the Omni Deeds of Trust.

Kal-Mor had no actual knowledge or notice of any of the Omni Deeds of Trust when it purchased the Kal-Mor Properties from First 100 in 2014 and 2015.

[JA Vol. I, 00005, ¶23 - 25; 000006, ¶30 - 32; 000008, ¶44 - 46; 000009, ¶51 - 53; 000010, ¶58 - 60; 000011, ¶65 - 67; 000012, ¶72 - 74; 000013, ¶79 - 81]. First 100 expressly denies these allegations. [JA Vol. VII, 001596, ¶23 - 25; 001597, ¶30 - 32; 001598, ¶44 - 46; 001600, ¶58 - 60; 001600, ¶65 - 66, 001601, ¶67; 001601, ¶72 - 74; 001602, ¶79 - 81]. Prior to Kal-Mor's purchases, First 100 committed the first of its numerous breaches of the Omni Loan. [JA Vol. IV, 00790 - 00792; 00820 - 822]. Among other things, First 100 failed to: (i) pay principal and interest when due; (ii) cure the defects in Omni's Deeds of Trust; (iii)

properly prosecute and enforce the HOA receivables; and (iv) provide Omni with required monthly, quarterly, and annual financial statements. [JA Vol. IV, 000820, Omni noticed a UCC sale pursuant to NRS Chapter 104, by issuing a ¶12]. "Notification of Disposition of Collateral" in January 2016. [JA Vol. IV, 000821, [16]. In response, First 100 filed suit and sought an emergency, ex parte TRO to stop the sale in the U.S. District Court for Nevada. [JA Vol. IV, 000792, ¶31]. Kal-Mor filed a virtually identical lawsuit and emergency TRO request. [Id. at ¶32]. The two cases were consolidated by the U.S. District Court. [Id. at ¶34]. Giving First 100 and Kal-Mor the benefit of the doubt, the U.S. District Court granted a TRO and postponed Omni's foreclosure sale. [Id. at ¶35]. However, several months later, after three days of evidentiary hearings and extensive briefings and oral arguments, the U.S. District Court held that: (i) the original TRO was wholly unwarranted; (ii) Omni could proceed with the foreclosure sale; and (iii) Omni was entitled to Kal-Mor's TRO bond. [JA Vol. V, 001171 - 1197]. Not only was Kal-Mor a party to the federal proceedings, but its disputes with Omni were resolved in an agreement specifically addressing the properties subject of Kal-Mor's Complaint. In documents dated November 23, 2016, Omni and Kal-Mor agreed to a (i) "Settlement and Mutual General Release Agreement" [JA Vol. IV, 000966 - 000976]; and (ii) "Stipulation and Order for Entry of Final Judgment" (the "Kal-Mor SAO") [JA Vol. V, 001260 - 001269]. Critically, the former states:

W. The Parties now desire to resolve all differences, disputes and disagreements between them relating to the 2014-2015 Receivables and the ACR Receivables. *This Agreement, however, is not intended to address or resolve any dispute between the Parties as to the Kal-Mor Real Properties*.

* * *

Notwithstanding the terms provided herein, *Omni reserves all rights to assert claims and conduct Enforcement Actions relating to any asset or property* other than the 2013 Receivables, 2014-2015 Receivables, and/or ACR Receivables, whether owned (previously, currently, or in the future) by GFY or a third party, including but not limited to the Kal-Mor Real Properties, associated proceeds, rents, and/or other assets.

[JA Vol. IV, 000969, (Recital W); 000970, 4(a) (emphasis added). Several weeks later, Omni and First 100 entered into a similar agreement (defined in the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and herein as the "First 100 Settlement Agreement"). [JA Vol. IV, 000978 – Vol. V, 001024]. In fact, while negotiating the First 100 settlement, Jay Bloom of First 100 repeatedly told Martin Boone of Omni that Omni was still secured by the Deeds of Trust. [JA Vol. IV, 000822, ¶19 – 000893, ¶22]. The parties also discussed the fact that any proceeds from foreclosures on those real properties would be credited to First 100. [*Id.*]

Following settlement of the federal case regarding First 100's personalty, Omni turned to foreclosing on the 24 real properties liened in its Deeds of Trust. [JA Vol. IV, 000824, ¶26]. On May 15, 2017, Omni caused a Notice of Breach and Election to Sell under Deeds of Trust (the "Notice of Default") to be recorded with the Clark County Recorder's Office. [*Id.*]. Kal-Mor, believing that it had an ownership interest superior to that of Omni filed the instant litigation asserting that the First 100 Settlement Agreement acted as a novation of the underlying Loan Agreement and that the all the rights and obligations entered into as part of the original lending agreement, including the Deeds of Trust and right to foreclose, were eliminated. As noted, the District Court agreed with Kal-Mor and granted partial summary judgment on the issue of novation thereby preventing Omni from exercising its rights under the Deeds of Trust used to secure the Loan.

VI.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court erred in granting partial summary judgment in favor Kal-Mor for numerous reasons. The evidence presented and considered by the Court consisted solely of Kal-Mor's interpretation of an agreement it was not a party to and of which it had no personal knowledge. Likewise, the First 100 Settlement Agreement contained an express provision stating that there were no intended thirdparty beneficiaries. [JA Vol. IV, 000997, §20(f)]. Kal-Mor was specifically listed as a party excluded as a beneficiary under the express language of the First 100 Settlement Agreement. [*Id.*]. Likewise, even if Kal-Mor was a proper party to challenge the meaning and enforcement of the First 100 Settlement Agreement, it was required to demonstrate each element of novation by "clear and convincing" evidence. No such evidence was presented as the only uncontroverted evidence demonstrated that neither Omni nor First 100 contemplated a novation when entering into the First 100 Settlement Agreement. This was made clear by First 100 assisting Omni with enforcement of rights under the original agreement which Kal-Mor claims was subject of the novation. Finally, to the extent any doubt could be raised regarding the intent of Omni and First 100 the District Court erred in not allowing any discovery at a time when no discovery had taken place and no answer had been filed by any defendant.

Additionally, as set forth herein, a novation requires that a new agreement replace an existing, valid agreement. This element is lacking as the Loan agreement between Omni and First 100 had been breached by First 100 prior to the alleged novation. Accordingly, no valid existing agreement existed that could be subject of a novation.

VII.

ARGUMENT

A. The District Court's Order is Subject to De Novo Review Regarding the Granting of Partial Summary Judgement and Abuse of Discretion Regarding Refusal to Allow Discovery Under NRCP 56(d).

The district court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). Summary judgment is appropriate when "the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any

material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."' *Id*. (*citing* NRCP 56(c)). When reviewing a motion for summary judgment all evidence must be considered in the "light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Id*.

The District Court's denial of Omni's request for discovery pursuant to NRCP 56(d) is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Choy v. Ameristar Casinos, Inc.*, 127 Nev. 870, 872, 265 P.3d 698, 700 (2011).

B. The District Court Erred in Granting Partial Summary Judgment to Kal-Mor as Material Issues of Fact Regarding the Intent of the Parties to the First 100 Settlement Agreement Existed.

The Court granted partial summary judgment on the issue of novation, finding that the First 100 Settlement Agreement entered into between Omni and First 100 constituted a novation of the earlier lending agreement. [JA Vol. VI, 001307 - 001317]. The Court's finding that a novation of contract occurred is erroneous. In order to demonstrate that a novation has occurred four elements must be shown: (1) there must be an existing valid contract; (2) all parties must agree to a new contract; (3) the new contract must extinguish the old contract; and (4) the new contract must be valid. *United Fire Ins. Co. v. McClelland*, 105 Nev. 504, 508, 780 P.2d 193 (Nev. 1989). "Whether a novation occurred is a question of fact if the evidence is such that reasonable persons can draw more than one conclusion." *Id.* "Moreover, the party asserting novation has the burden of proving all the essentials of novation by *clear*.

and convincing evidence." Id. at 509 (emphasis added). Novation is a question of law only when the agreement and consent of the parties are unequivocal. Id. at 508. Critically, it is the intent of the parties to the agreement that is relevant, not that of a third party. The intent of the parties is controlling, and it must be shown that the parties to the purported novation had a clear intent to enter into a novation. Id. at 508. Moreover, a "novation may be defined as a mutual agreement between the parties concerned for the discharge of a valid existing obligation . . . "58 Am. Jur.2d "Whether a novation exists in any situation depends on factual Novation §1. allegations and proof, not on legal conclusions." Capital Nat'l Bank of Tampa v. Hutchinson, 435 F.2d 46, 50 (5th Cir. 1970). To this end if anything remains of the original obligation, then no novation exists. Moffet County State Bank v. Told, 800 P.2d 1320, 1323 (Colo. 1990)("A mere modification will not suffice; anything remaining of the original obligation prevents a novation.").

As these authorities make clear, it is the intent of the parties to the subject agreement that is relevant. In the District Court, no authority was cited by Kal-Mor or the District Court that supports the proposition that the intent of a third party is relevant when the parties to an agreement do not have a dispute about its application. Kal-Mor's challenge is understandable as a finding that Omni's Deeds of Trust are valid encumbrances on the affected properties will result in a finding that Omni has superior title vis-a-vis Kal-Mor. This outcome, however, does not change the fact

that Kal-Mor's intent and understanding is not relevant in determining whether a novation has occurred. The intent of Omni and First 100 was to enter into a settlement agreement, not a novation. The only competent evidence presented in relation to Kal-Mor's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was that of Omni. Kal-Mor is not, and never was a party to any agreements entered into between Omni and First 100, thus the only evidence which should rightfully have been considered by the District Court was Omni's interpretation of the First 100 Settlement Agreement. Kal-Mor's interpretation of an agreement it is not a party to is irrelevant. More importantly, and as discussed in greater depth herein, it is inadmissible as there is no evidence in the record which establishes that Kal-Mor has any personal knowledge of either Omni or First 100's intent in entering into the First 100 Settlement Agreement. There is no dispute that Omni had the right to enforce its rights under the relevant Deeds of Trust as First 100 actively assisted in that endeavor, thus, not all provisions of the original agreement were replaced.

Kal-Mor focused upon select language of the First 100 Settlement Agreement in bringing its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. [JA Vol. III, 000584]. First 100 relied upon certain language it asserted demonstrated a clear intent that Omni was resolving and waiving all rights under any other agreement. [*Id.*]. Assuming that such an approach was proper, the analysis could still not overcome the undisputed intent of the parties to the actual agreement. As noted by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals:

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