IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed May 24 2021 02:00 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

OMNI FINANCIAL, LLC, a foreign limited liability company,

Appellant,

vs.

KAL-MOR-USA, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Respondent.

No.: 82028

Eighth Judicial District Court Case No. A-17-757061-C (Honorable Richard Scotti)

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

SHEA LARSEN PC

BART K. LARSEN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 8538 KYLE M. WYANT, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 14652 1731 Village Center Circle, Suite 150 Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 Attorneys for Respondent Kal-Mor-USA, LLC

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Through the obvious and unmistakable language of the First 100 Settlement and First 100 Judgment, Omni forever waived and released its right to enforce the Omni Note against its borrower and substituted in place of the Omni Note a new and materially different agreement under which both First 100's payment obligations and Omni's rights in the remaining collateral for the Omni Note changed substantially. This unequivocal substitution of the new obligations and rights arising under First 100 Settlement in place of the indebtedness owed under the Omni Note was a novation. As a result of this novation, the Deeds of Trust that previously stood as security for the Omni Note were extinguished as to the Kal-Mor Properties in which First 100 then held no interest.

Contrary to Omni's suggestions, Kal-Mor does not dispute the validity or enforceability of the First 100 Settlement or claim any right to enforce the terms of the First 100 Settlement as an intended beneficiary or otherwise. Likewise, Kal-Mor has never argued Omni intended to release its security interests in the Kal-Mor Properties when it entered into the First 100 Settlement, which explicitly extinguished and replaced First 100's obligations under the Omni Note with the new and materially different obligations. The release and discharge of such securities interests was the consequence of the novation that occurred through the First 100 Settlement regardless of Omni's intent.

Omni does not dispute that First 100's obligations under the Omni Note were discharged. Indeed, nowhere in its Opening Brief or its filings in the District Court does Omni argue that it retained the right to enforce the Omni Note against First 100 after entering into the First 100 Settlement. Accordingly, the District Court correctly construed the plain language of the First 100 Settlement as clear and convincing evidence of novation. [JA Vol. III, 000584-588]. As a consequence of that novation, Omni's security interests in the Kal-Mor Properties as collateral for the Omni Note were extinguished.

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Omni's request for discovery pursuant to NRCP 56(d). All of the issues on which Omni professed a need for discovery are either undisputed or irrelevant as no amount of discovery will change the plain language of the First 100 Settlement. Moreover, Omni made no effort whatsoever to conduct discovery during the year that passed between the initial filing of Kal-Mor's motion for partial summary judgment prior to removal and the renewal of that motion after the underlying action was remanded to the District Court.

Lastly, to the extent the District Court erred in finding a novation occurred, any such error was harmless because Omni is similarly barred from foreclosing on the Kal-Mor Properties under the one-action rule as Omni has already obtained a final monetary judgment against its borrower First 100.

VI.

ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Correctly Found that the First 100 Settlement Constituted a Novation of the Omni Note.

i. <u>Kal-Mor Had Standing to Challenge Omni's Claimed Security</u> <u>Interest in the Kal-Mor Properties.</u>

Omni's arguments attacking Kal-Mor's standing to challenge enforcement of the Deeds of Trust [Opening Brief, p. 25] are sorely misplaced. As owner of the Kal-Mor Properties, Kal-Mor clearly had standing to assert claims for quiet title and declaratory relief against Omni notwithstanding the fact that Kal-Mor was not a party to the First 100 Settlement. "It is well established that a quiet title action may be advanced by any person against another who claims an estate or interest in real property, adverse to the person bringing the action, for the purpose of determining such adverse claim." *See Bank of N.Y. Mellon v. Stone Canyon W. Homeowners* Ass'n, No. 2:16-cv-01904; 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44484, *12 (D. Nev. Mar. 19, 2019).

Through the underlying action, Kal-Mor sought a declaration that the First 100 Settlement replaced the indebtedness owed under the Omni Note with the new obligations set forth in the First 100 Settlement to which Kal-Mor never agreed to be bound and, as a result, any security interest Omni held in the Kal-Mor Properties as collateral for the Omni Note was extinguished. See Walker v. Shrake, 75 Nev. 241, 339 P.2d 124 (1959) (holding that the replacement of a judgment with a new promissory note extinguished the ability of the judgment creditor to later foreclose on its judgment lien); In re Fricke, No. L-90-01056W, 1991 Bankr. LEXIS 2237, *10-13 (Bankr. N.D. Iowa Oct. 22, 1991) (finding that because novation occurred, the court was required to find that the security interest under the original agreement was extinguished). In essence, Kal-Mor sought a determination from the District Court as to the legal effect upon its interests in the Kal-Mor Properties of the wholesale replacement of the Omni Note with the First 100 Settlement.

While Kal-Mor was not a party to the First 100 Settlement, it was not a stranger to matters addressed therein. As a result of First 100's fraudulent sale of the Kal-Mor Properties, Kal-Mor took title to the Kal-Mor Properties subject to the Deeds of Trust. The extinguishment of the Omni Note through the First 100 Settlement destroyed Omni's ability to enforce the Deeds of Trust against the Kal-

Mor Properties. As the owner of those properties, Kal-Mor had every right to seek a determination from the District Court to that effect. "An action may be brought by any person against another who claims an estate or interest in real property, adverse to the person bringing the action, for the purpose of determining such adverse claim." NRS 40.010; *see also Howell v. Ricci*, 124 Nev. 1222, 1224, 197 P.3d 1044, 1046 n.1 (2008) (a quiet title action is the proper method by which to adjudicate disputed ownership of real property rights).

Contrary to Omni's suggestions, Kal-Mor did not (i) allege any breach of the First 100 Settlement, (ii) claim any right to enforce the First 100 Settlement against either First 100 or Omni as a third-party beneficiary or otherwise, (iii) attack the validity or enforceability of the First 100 Settlement, (iv) dispute Omni's intent in entering into the First 100 Settlement, or (v) advance any interpretation of the First 100 Settlement beyond its plain and obvious meaning. Moreover, the District Court's finding that the First 100 Settlement was a novation was not based on any of the foregoing. Rather, the District Court based its decision squarely on the plain and unambiguous language of the First 100 Settlement.

ii. <u>The First 100 Settlement Was a Novation of the Omni Note.</u>

The intentional and unmistakable substitution of the First 100 Settlement for the Omni Note was a novation. "A novation, or substituted contract, 'is a contract that is itself accepted ... in satisfaction of [an] existing duty' which 'discharges the original duty." Granite Construction Co. v. Remote Energy Solutions, LLC, 403

P.3d 683, 133 Nev. 1016, *5-6 (2017) (unpublished).

All novations are substituted contracts, and the converse is also true that all substituted contracts are novations. An existing claim can be instantly discharged by the substitution of a new executory agreement in its place. This is true whether the prior claim is not yet matured at the time of the substitution, or is a claim to reparation for some prior breach of duty.

Lazovich & Lazovich v. Harding, 86 Nev. 434, 437, 470 P.2d 125, 128 (1970). "A novation consists of four elements: (1) there must be an existing valid contract; (2) all parties must agree to a new contract; (3) the new contract must extinguish the old contract; and (4) the new contract must be valid." *United Fire Ins. Co. v. McLelland*, 105 Nev. 504, 508, 780 P.2d 193, 195 (1989). Novation of a contract absolves sureties or guaranties of their liability under the original contract. *Williams v. Crusader Disc. Corp.*, 75 Nev. 67, 334 P.2d 843 (1959); *Ewing v. Smith*, 1986 Tenn. App. LEXIS 2803, *16-17 (Tenn. App. Feb. 26, 1986) ("A material change in a promissory note after it has been executed will invalidate the promissory note and the deed of trust securing it."). Here, the District Court properly found all four elements were established by clear and convincing evidence. [JA Vol. VI, 001307-1317].

There is no question that the parties to the Omni Note are the same as the parties to the First 100 Settlement. Accordingly, the second element of novation is clearly satisfied. Similarly, there is no dispute as to the validity of the First 100 Settlement, which satisfies the fourth element. [JA Vol. VI, JA001314]. This leaves only the first and third elements to address.

As to the first element, that the Omni Note was an existing valid contract, Omni made no effort to dispute this fact until after entry of the MPSJ Order when it filed its motion to reconsider in which it attempted to argue that First 100's failure to pay amounts due and owing under the Omni Note somehow resulted in the Omni Note not being a valid and existing contract. [Compare JA Vol. IV, 000810-812 with JA Vol. VI, 001349]. Omni rehashes this argument on appeal but is plainly incorrect in claiming a prior breach precludes a finding of novation. *See, e.g., Williams*, 75 Nev. at 71, 334 P.2d at 846. In *Williams*, this Court stated:

Guarantors and sureties are exonerated if the creditor, by any act done without their consent, alters the obligation of the principal in any respect, or impairs or suspends the remedy for its enforcement. Where, *after breach of contract*, the performance of which is guaranteed, the creditor and principal debtor enter into a new contract, by which the amount of damages then due is made payable on a future day, and upon terms different from those imposed by the original agreement, such new contract presumptively merges the old. In such a case, the new obligation becomes the exclusive medium by which the rights of the parties in respect to the payment of damages are to be ascertained. Such a contract is not collateral to the original, but, in respect to the subject to which it appertains, it merges and supersedes the other.

Id. (emphasis supplied). The Court's decision in *Walker v. Shrake*, 75 Nev. 241, 339 P.2d 124 (1959) provides another example of a novation occurring after an obvious breach of the parties' original agreement. In *Walker*, a lender obtained a money judgment against a defaulting borrower. In exchange for the borrower's

execution of a new note for double the amount of the judgment, the lender agreed it would not execute on the judgment. Id. at 246-47. When the borrower later defaulted in payment of the second note, the lender foreclosed on its judgment lien against the borrower's real property. Id. at 247. This Court found that the foreclosure sale was void on the basis that the lender's judgment lien had been extinguished by novation based upon the second note. Id. at 247-48. See also Intersal, Inc. v. Hamilton, 834 S.E.2d 404 (N.C. 2019) (finding that a 2013 settlement agreement was a novation of a 1998 agreement, despite plaintiff alleging that a breach occurred and bringing a breach of contract claim prior to the novation); AFT Mich. v. State, 866 N.W.2d 782, 789-90 (Mich. 2015) ("A refusal to perform in compliance with a valid contract amounts to a breach of contract and may entitle the other party to damages or other forms of relief; however, *a breach does not affect* the contract's fundamental validity.") (emphasis supplied).

Additionally, it makes absolutely no sense for Omni to allege that the Omni Note is not a valid contract due to First 100's default. If the Omni Note is not a valid contract, Omni would have no right to foreclose on the Kal-Mor Properties under the Deeds of Trust that secure the Omni Note. *See Fidelity & Dep. Co. v. Ticor Title Ins.*, 943 P.2d 710 (Wash. App. 1997) (holding that if a promissory note is unenforceable or invalid, so too is the deed of trust or mortgage securing the same— "If the obligation for which the mortgage was given fails for some reason, the mortgage is unenforceable."). As such, the first element of novation cannot seriously be disputed.

The third element of Novation, whether the First 100 Settlement extinguished the Omni Note, was also established by clear and convincing evidence before the District Court. In fact, nowhere in any of its filings does Omni claim that it retained the right to enforce the Omni Note against First 100 after the execution of the First 100 Settlement. The reason Omni makes no such claim is obvious. The First 100 Settlement unequivocally released First 100 from its obligations under the Omni Note as properly found by the District Court. In making this finding, District Court did not rely on any disputed or unsupported fact. Rather, the District Court relied on the plain and unambiguous statements set forth in the First 100 Settlement, which "unequivocally demonstrate that the First 100 Settlement expressly and unambiguously extinguished and discharged the Omni Note and substituted in place of the Omni Note the new and materially different obligations owed under the First 100 Settlement." [JA Vol. VI, 001314-1315]. The plain language of the First 100 Settlement at Sections 1(b) and 15(a) clearly state that it was the intent of the parties to waive any right to assert any claim except those relating to enforcement of the First 100 Settlement under which Omni:

unconditionally relieve[d], release[d], and acquit[ted] and forever discharge[d] First 100...of and from any and all Liabilities and Claims arising out of, concerning, or in any manner relating to...Enforcement Actions undertaken by Omni with respect to the Omni Loan (including without limitation the UCC Sale and exercise of the assignment of rents).

[JA Vol. III, 739; JA Vol. IV, 753].

Additionally, it is indisputable that the First 100 Settlement replaced the "approximately \$4.1 million" in indebtedness Omni claimed was owed under the Omni Note with the new and materially different obligations owed by First 100 under the First 100 Settlement [JA Vol. III, 000586]. First 100's new obligations included a "Stipulated Judgment Debt" of \$4.8 million, which combined the indebtedness owed under the Omni Note with the separate indebtedness owed under the PPSA and Prentice Loan. The First 100 Settlement also created a new "Stipulated Judgment Debt Return" revenue sharing arrangement under which Omni received a 50% interest in the proceeds of the remaining collateral for the Omni Note, up to an additional \$1.2 million, and a 5% interest in all such proceeds thereafter. [JA Vol. III, 000741]. This new revenue sharing arrangement granted Omni an ongoing interest in the proceeds of that collateral that continues indefinitely regardless of how much Omni is paid. [JA Vol. III, 000750; JA Vol. IV, 000751].

The material differences between the indebtedness First 100 owed under the Omni Note and the new obligations and rights set forth in the First 100 Settlement are undeniable. The District Court recognized those obvious differences in finding that First 100's payment obligations and the purported scope of Omni's interests in the remaining collateral for the Omni Note were both materially different and enlarged under the First 100 Settlement. [JA Vol. VI, 001314-1315; JA Vol. VIII, 001775]. There should be no question that a novation occurred.

The First 100 Judgment further supports the inescapable fact that the First 100 Settlement Replaced the Omni Note. The First 100 Judgment dismissed with prejudice all disputed claims related to the Omni Note and Deeds of Trust, reserving only the right to enforce the First 100 Settlement. Specifically, paragraphs 5 and 6 of the First 100 Judgment state:

The Lawsuit and any and all Disputes, Claims, Counterclaims, and Third-Party Claims are hereby dismissed with prejudice. This judgment shall not preclude or otherwise impair any claim or defense that may exist or arise between or among the Parties with respect to a breach of the Settlement Agreement.

[JA Vol. IV, 000782]. "Disputes" as used in the First 100 Judgment is defined expansively to include "numerous disputes" between Omni and First 100 regarding, among other things: "(a) First 100's default on a line of credit loan extended by Omni pursuant to a loan agreement and other transaction documents dated May 27, 2014...and (f) Omni's first-priority security interest, as beneficiary, under deeds of trust in various real properties previously or currently owned by First 100." [JA Vol. IV, 000780-781].

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